
                                  

AGENDA

For a meeting of the
GROWTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

to be held on
WEDNESDAY, 29 AUGUST 2018

at
10.00 AM

in
WITHAM ROOM - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, 

GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ
Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Chairman
Councillor Robert Reid

Councillor Michael Cook
Councillor Barry Dobson (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Graham Jeal

Councillor Peter Stephens
Councillor David Taylor
Councillor Paul Wood

Invited Cabinet Members
Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications

Support Officer: Anita Eckersley Tel: 01476 406517
E-mail: a.eckersley@southkesteven.gov.uk

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed below.

1  COMMENTS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

2  MEMBERSHIP 

The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

3  APOLOGIES 

4  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

5  ACTION NOTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 JULY 2018 (Pages 3 - 13)

(Enclosed)

mailto:a.eckersley@southkesteven.gov.uk


6  UPDATES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

7  DELIVERSK (Pages 14 - 28)

(Enclosed)

8  ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF SPECIAL 
CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT 



 

MEETING OF THE 
GROWTH OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
WEDNESDAY, 25 JULY 2018,  
10.00 AM 

 

 

 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT 
  
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Michael Cook 
Councillor Barry Dobson (Vice-
Chairman) 
 

Councillor Robert Reid (Chairman) 
Councillor David Taylor 
Councillor Paul Wood 
 

CABINET MEMBERS 
Councillor Adam Stokes Cabinet Member for Finance  
Councillor Helen Goral Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications 
Councillor Jacky Smith Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, Wellbeing & Skills 
 
OFFICERS OTHER MEMBERS PRESENT 
 
Strategic Director Resources (Debbie 
Muddimer) 
Strategic Director Growth (Paul Thomas) 
Assistant Director Resources (Richard 
Wyles) 
Assistant Director Housing (Harry Rai) 
Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles) 
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor 

Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Nick Craft 
 
 

 

 
15. MEMBERSHIP 
 
 The Committee were informed that Councillor Adams was substituting for 

Councillor Jeal.  
  
16. APOLOGIES 
 
 An apology for absence was received from Councillor Stephens. 
  
17. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 
 
 None disclosed. 
  

3

Agenda Item 5



 

18. ACTION NOTES FROM THE CALL-IN MEETING HELD ON 29 MAY 2018 
 
 That the action notes from the call-in meeting held on 29 May 2018 were 

agreed. It was noted that Councillor Adams and Councillor Wood were not 
present at this meeting and did not vote on the notes. 

  
19. ACTION NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 13 JUNE 2018 
 
 The action notes from the meeting held on 13 June 2018 were agreed. It was 

noted that Councillor Adams was not present for this meeting and therefore did 
not vote. 

  
20. UPDATES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 
 The Chairman referred to the following items and a brief update was given for 

each: 
 
Q4 Financial Outturn Report – this item would be looked at as part of the 
agenda. 
 
Local Plan – this was on track, the final consultation was currently underway. 
 
Spitalgate Heath Garden Village - application due to go to Development 
Management Committee towards the end of the year. 
 
Economic Development - work was on going.  
 
St Peter’s Hill – Cinema Project – work was on going and budget was on 
target, car parking scenario had been resolved. 
 
Grantham Southern Relief Road – no update available. 
 
Business Rates – Item would be included as part of outturn reports later in the 
agenda. 
 
River Witham Corridor – no update available. 
 
Housing Needs – the Chairman noted (as a member of the Development 
Management Committee) that through Section 106 Agreements there were 
small pockets of expenditure with turn arounds being slightly faster.  
 
Waste Recycling – food waste trial was currently ongoing – possibility of 
further budget provision costings for anaerobic digesters. 
 
Car Parking - this would be discussed next year at the proper time.  It was 
noted that a lot of work had been done on car parking about four years ago. 
 
 

4



 

One Member asked about the redevelopment of the office space and it was 
noted that this issue had been moved back and there was nothing to report at 
the current time, a report would be coming to a future meeting of the 
Committee.  
 
A question was asked about car parking and it was confirmed that the issue 
was in respect of car parking at Bourne in relation to Marks and Spencer’s and 
the Corn Exchange and a barrier was to be put in place to regulate the Corn 
Exchange parking.  A further question was asked about car parking in relation 
to the cinema project. It was confirmed that no changes would be made to the 
current tariffs but certain floors would be allocated short stay and long stay in 
the Welham Street car park. Also space would be looked at where the Reel 
Cinema used to be as a temporary car park to enable an evaluation to be 
carried out once the cinema was up and running.    It was stated that the 
proportion of spaces would be more short stay and less long stay.  
 
A question was asked about the cost with regard to waste recycling and it was 
stated that the food trial had been carried out at the request of Lincolnshire 
County Council. The trial was currently well used but it would be necessary to 
look at the cost implications after the trial. 

  
21. Q4 FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2017-18 
 
 The Cabinet Member for Finance introduced report CFM467.  The report 

provided the Committee with the detail of the Council’s outturn position for the 
financial year 2017/18 and covered revenue and capital expenditure for the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account. 
 
The Governance and Audit Committee had approved the Revenue and Capital 
Outturn report and associated appendices for 2017/18 together with set-asides 
and reserves and had also approved the Capital slippages from the 2017/18 
Capital Programme at their meeting on 21 June 2018. 
 
Quarter 3 was reported to the Committee on 14 February 2018 with a forecast 
variance on the net budget requirement of £612K.  The final outturn position 
had improved with additional income being earned through investment of 
increased cash balances, increased business rates income received as a result 
of upward revaluation and additional business rates pooling gain arising from 
the 60% (after the levy) retention of the local growth above the baseline level.  
An increase in central support costs of £340K was charged to the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) following in-year increase in support service costs 
together with a number of grants that were received late in the financial year. 
 
Members then questioned the information before them and the following 
questions/comments were made: 
 

 A question was asked about the Leisure Centres and what needed 
addressing – it was confirmed that there had been issues across all 

5



 

leisure centres, although mostly with regard to maintenance.  A detailed 
breakdown would be circulated to Committee members. 

 A question was asked about overspend in relation to communications 
and was this staff based – the Chairman stated that any staffing issues 
should be directed to the Chief Executive, the Member stated that if this 
was in relation to external consultancy it was different to staffing.  The 
Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications stated that there were 
a number of different projects being implemented under 
Communications with different elements to achieve the Councils 
objectives and additional staff had been required to carry out the work. 

 A further comment was made about the one off costs in relation to the 
corporate management structure was this in relation to redundancy, the 
Member was referred to the Statement of Accounts but it was stated that 
the detail was confidential. 

 A comment was made about the variance information contained within 
the report in relation to Leisure Centres and the information in the 
appendices – the figures were different.  An explanation was given about 
the difference and what cost were included and the Member who raised 
the issue asked if the public would understand this. 

 
Whilst going through the outturn report Members referenced the number of 
changes made to the budget, they appreciated that budgets changed over the 
course of a year but felt that there were too many variances and the Council 
needed to get better at budgeting.  It was stressed that the Committees role 
was to scrutinise the issues before them and to monitor variances and raise 
any concerns that they had.  The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director 
Resources and her team for the work that they carried out in relation to the 
budget and the format that it had been presented in, which was readable and 
understandable. 
 
Reference was made to Disabled Facilities Grants, although Members 
appreciated that this was grant based and reliant on Occupational Therapists 
recommendations it was felt that the issue should be kept under review. 
 

 Action Note 
 
Disabled Facilities Grants to be included on the work programme to be 
kept under review. 
 
The issue of markets was discussed and how they could be reinvigorated 
especially as the climate for buying food had changed.   Members felt that the 
Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy whose remit covered markets 
should look into the rental charges especially in respect of Grantham market.  
Some Members asked whether investing in markets made financial sense 
considering the number of factors which affected markets particularly the 
Grantham market and the possibility of the two outlet villages on the outskirts of 
Grantham and how this could affect the town.  Other issues which affected the 
market were having the necessary facilities such as running water and public 

6



 

conveniences.    The Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, Wellbeing and 
Skills indicated that as part of the cinema project the bike shed and facilities 
would be moved to the conduit area.  It was suggested that the Head of Town 
Centres be invited to the meeting to provide a summary of what was happening 
with the markets. 
 

 Action Note 
 
That the Head of Town Centres be invited to the next meeting of the 
Committee to give a summary of what is happening with the markets. 
 
Members then commented on issues that affected the HRA. The Chairman 
referred to the variance concerning re-wiring and fire alarms and accessibility to 
tenant’s properties especially in light of the Grenfell Tower fire. The Assistant 
Director Housing indicated that this issue had been picked up as part of the 
2018/19 programme with regard to accessibility to properties and there was 
legislation that could be used to gain access.  It was questioned whether it was 
the same occupants each time and it was requested that an update be given to 
the next meeting. 
 

 Action Note 
 
That an update on house fire alarms, re-wiring and accessibility be given 
to the next meeting of the committee.  
 
Reference was made to the outstanding loan with regard to the HRA and 
reserves and how this would be dealt with, the Cabinet Member for Finance 
stated that options were being looked at with regard to this loan but nothing had 
yet been agreed. 
 

 Action Note 
 
The Committee to be kept informed of the options around the repayment 
of the HRA Loan. 
 
Clarity on the retention of business rates was discussed and the Assistant 
Director Resources confirmed that during 2018/19 the Council is part of a one 
year pilot but confirmation was awaited about whether this would continue into 
2019/20. 
 
A Member felt that a key document was missing, the headcount report, this had 
been circulated when he had been Chairman of Resources and it was felt that 
this information should be circulated to the Committee.  Members felt that this 
should once again be circulated. 
 

 Action Note 
 
That the headcount report should be circulated to the Growth Overview 

7



 

and Scrutiny Committee going forward. 
 
The Committee had reviewed the revenue and capital outturn report 2017/18 
together with the associated appendices but required more information on the 
points discussed and referenced in the action points.  It was noted that it had 
been a year of change with exceptional reasons for budget variances but going 
forward a better focus on budgeting was required. 
 

  
22. Q1 FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2018/19 
 
 The Cabinet Member for Finance submitted report CFM462 which provided the 

Committee with a summary of the year to date position against the original 
budget for 2018/19.  The report covered revenue and capital expenditure for 
both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account.  
 
In order to ensure effective budget management it was important that the 
Committee are updated with budget monitoring information and that they are 
kept informed of the financial position following the balanced budget set by 
Council at the start of the financial year. 
 
The report covered the financial position to the 30 June 2018 and focussed on 
emerging issues and identified action that was being undertaken to manage 
these issues. 
 
A number of savings had been undertaken, however only £579K of the 
budgeted £2.494M had been achieved with regard to savings, efficiencies and 
income generation and alternative plans were being explored.  The Committee 
would be provided with more details at their next meeting when a forecast 
position would be presented. Currently the HRA had a small overspend. 
 
Each appendix to the report was then discussed by the Committee. 
 
Appendix A – a comment was made about looking at new investment 
opportunities in order to increase investment income.  The Assistant Director 
Resources provided clarification that the income described as “Interest and 
Investment Income” is the income generated through the treasury management 
of the council’s cash balances.  The investment income from Commercial 
Property investments was within the net cost of services, and it was this income 
that the £28K variance highlighted within Appendix B related to.  
 
Appendix B – Bourne Core Area, particularly the vacant units on Wherry’s Lane 
was discussed especially as these had now been vacant for a considerable 
period of time.  It was requested that an update on the units and retail interest 
in them should be given at the next meeting. 
 

Action Note 
 

8



 

That an update on the retail units at Wherry’s Lane, Bourne and any 
interest in them be given at the next meeting. 
 
Appendix B – Variances on parking income and additional parking capacity. 
Members discussed these issues in light that the tariffs were not set to 
increase.  The extra capacity was in relation to a Stamford car park.   
 
A Member asked that in order to make informed decisions a projected forecast 
outturn was needed. Members were told that this would be available for the 
next meeting of the Committee.  A Member asked about the new measures that 
had been previously discussed for car parks in the budget in relation to 
barriers, enforcement etc and whether these were in place yet. 
 
The staffing variance of £17K was discussed.  A Member repeated his request 
that the Headcount report be circulated.  The Strategic Director Resources 
provided the Committee with assurance that the monitoring of staffing budgets 
was part of the budget management process that budget managers are 
expected to undertake. 
 
A Member commented on the self-financing enforcement team which had been 
promised and he wanted to know what progress had been made. It was pointed 
out that the Committee were there to discuss the progress on the financial 
performance to date.  At the next meeting the forecast report would be 
circulated and it should be reported then about any issues. 
 
Reference was made to the homelessness variance as there had been an 
increase in homelessness which the authority had a statutory duty to 
undertake. It was hoped that there would be government grant funding 
available to help address this variance.   
 

Action Note 
 
An update to be given on homelessness to the next meeting. 
 
A comment was also made about the large corporate variance shown and it 
was noted that work was currently on going to help address this.  A question 
was asked about minor variances and it was confirmed that a minor variance 
was classed as £15K or below. 
 
Appendices C, D, E and F were discussed the only comment being made about 
the vacancy for the HRA Business Manager which had now been filled, the 
applicant will commence employment at the end of August. 
 
Appendix G covered the General Fund Capital Programme variance analysis 
and a question was asked about the St Peter’s Hill development to which the 
Cabinet Member responsible replied. 
 
Car parks were once again discussed in relation to the lack of budget used in 

9



 

the first three months.  It was confirmed that no work had been planned for the 
first three months in relation to the ticket machines and barriers, hence there 
was no expenditure. 
 
Appendix H which concerned the HRA Capital Programme variance analysis 
was briefly discussed and the lack of work in some areas in the first three 
months.  It was stressed that work was on going with regard to specifications 
and frameworks and that expenditure would be shown in the next report. 
 
A question was asked about where performance was monitored and it was 
stated that work was currently being done through CMT in relation to 
performance indicators and the new Corporate Strategy.  The performance 
report went to Cabinet but it was suggested that it also came to Growth O/S 
Committee. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
That following a review of the figures contained in report CFM462 further 
information on the following topics is required as also contained in the 
action points above: 
 

 Update on the retail units at Wherry’s Lane, Bourne 

 Update on homelessness 

 The forecast budget outturn to be circulated at the next meeting 

 Car parking update 

 A copy of the Headcount to be circulated  

 Performance monitoring to be produced for this committee 
 
The Committee notes that Officers continue to identify actions and take 
measures to effectively manage the overall budget and reduce the impact 
of any adverse projected pressures that may result in overspends. 

  
23. INVESTSK - ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION AND MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING 
 
 Members had been circulated with report iSK004 from the Cabinet Member for 

Growth and Communications which concerned two key documents for 
consideration by the Committee, the Articles of Association for InvestSK and 
the Memorandum of Association and its associated Performance Management 
Framework for InvestSK.   
 
The Cabinet had considered the proposal to incorporate InvestSK as a Private 
Company, Limited by Guarantee at its meeting on 12 May 2018.  The decision 
had been called in by five Members and the Growth Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee had met on 29 May and considered the call-in. The Committee had 
decided not to uphold the call-in decision and therefore the decision made at 
Cabinet on 12 May 2018 stood. 

10



 

 
The Cabinet decision was in six parts and the report gave an update on each 
area.  Two items before the Committee were in relation to the Memorandum of 
Understanding and its associated Performance Management Framework  and 
the Articles of Association.  
 
Questions were asked about the content of the appendices which seem to 
contradict each other. 
 
The Strategic Director Growth clarified that Appendix 2 to the report was a copy 
of the Model Articles for Private Companies Limited by Guarantee.  Appendix 4 
was the proposed Articles for InvestSK based on the Model Articles.   Appendix 
5 was a provisional Performance Management Framework and Appendix 6 was 
a comparison model that tailored the Articles of Association for InvestSK which 
should have shown the tracked changes (although it was noted that the track 
changes had failed to print).   The Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications stated that a working group of the Advisory Committee had 
spent time going through the documents before Members. 
 
A question was asked about the number of directors needed to be quorate.  
The Strategic Director, Growth clarified that at the moment there were three 
directors and to be quorate only two were needed.  Members were concerned 
about this number but it was stated that this was the same number as the 
current Gravitas Company had.   Further comments were made about 
remuneration to the directors of the company especially in respect to spending 
public money.   The Strategic Director Growth referred to the Tailored Articles 
at Appendix 4 where clarification on Directors’ remuneration was provided. 
Reference was made to the composition of the Board and the restrictions 
imposed by law.  
 
The Cabinet Member indicated that it had not been the intention to have an 
Advisory Committee for the long term and performance would be reported to 
the Cabinet. 
 
Further comments were made about the content of the appendices as 
Members were confused about which appendices they should be discussing.  
Concern was also expressed about monitoring the directors, it was felt that the 
Council had no power.  A further comment was made about the appointment of 
the Company Chief Executive in respect of the recruitment process and 
interview.    
 
A question was asked about the detail in relation to the Advisory Committee.  It 
was stated that the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communication had 
delegated authority in respect of the Advisory Committee.  The membership of 
the Advisory Committee originally was Councillor King, Councillor Goral and 
Councillor Adam Stokes together with relevant officers, however Councillor 
King was no longer a member.  A further question was asked about the 
Advisory Committee’s Terms and Conditions, when meetings had been held 

11



 

and availability of minutes.   
 
The Chairman draw Members attention to appendices 4, 5 and 5a which they 
were being asked to agree to be adopted. 
 
One Member felt that not enough information was contained within these 
documents especially with regard to detail, especially recruitment, contractual 
information and personnel issues. 
 
Further clarity was then sought about where the Board minutes would go, 
would they come before the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
scrutiny as this was not clearly stated within the document. 
 
A Member asked for clarity about the Advisory Committee, was this an ad hoc 
meeting as and when required?   The Strategic Director Growth indicated that 
once InvestSK had been set up the Advisory Committee would no longer be 
needed although the original report indicated that it was best practice to have 
an Advisory Committee which could make decisions on behalf of the Council 
when asked to do so by the Board. 
 
Reference was made to where performance reporting would go and it was 
stated that within Appendix 5 (Memorandum of Understanding) it stated that 
quarterly performance reporting would be reported to the Cabinet and the 
Governance and Audit Committee. The Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications stated that this could then also be reported to the Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to enable open scrutiny. 
  
Further discussion about the situation with the Advisory Committee and 
whether or not it needed to stay in place followed.  Members felt that this 
committee should remain in place and should have three Members and act as 
a proper committee between the Council and the Private Company InvestSK. 
 
The recommendation asked that the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
considered the Articles of Association and the Memorandum of Understanding 
for InvestSK as appended to the report and make comments. The Cabinet 
Member for Growth and Communications had delegated authority to approve 
them on behalf of the Cabinet and to lodge the Articles of Association with 
Companies House. 
 
Members expressed concern about the situation with the Advisory Committee 
and wanted minutes from that meeting to come back to the Growth Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee together with minutes from the Board meetings. The 
Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications described what she felt was 
the best route for reports to go through to be scrutinised.  Any report which 
went through Cabinet could be scrutinised by the Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  The Committee agreed that the word ‘provisional’ should 
be removed from appendix 5a, it was proposed, seconded and agreed that the 
documents as appended to the report be adopted having regard to the 

12



 

concerns raised by Members around the Advisory Committee and the 
performance reporting mechanisms. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Articles of Association and the Memorandum of Understanding 
and its associated Performance Management Framework are agreed to be 
adopted and that the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications 
lodge the Articles of Association at Companies House as delegated for by 
Cabinet having regard to the comments raised by Members around the 
Advisory Committee and that the mechanisms referred to in the 
Memorandum of Understanding are put in place for reporting back to the 
Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to InvestSK. 
 
 
 

  
24. CLOSE OF MEETING 
 
 The meeting closed at 12:50pm. 
  
 
 
 

13



Page 1

Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

29 August 2018

DeliverSK - DSK001

Decision
Proposal:

Key decision to establish an investment partnership, ‘DeliverSK’ 
(and related matters detailed in the report) to manage the delivery 
of physical growth and regeneration in South Kesteven.  

Relevant Cabinet 
Member: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Paul Thomas, Strategic Director for Growth
P.Thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406162 
Date: 17th August 2018

Debbie Muddimer, Strategic Director for Resources
Debbie.Muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk 
01476 406301
Date: 17th August 2018

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
Aiden.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406369
Date: 20th August 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council
Date: 21st August 2018

14

Agenda Item 7

mailto:P.Thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Debbie.Muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Aiden.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk


Page 2

SUMMARY

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is committed to playing an active role in helping drive 
substantial growth in the local economy for the benefit of all residents across the district. 

InvestSK is helping to grow the economy by attracting new businesses into South Kesteven and 
supporting companies in the district to grow and thrive. It is also growing the economy and 
enhancing our district through the promotion of art, culture and the visitor economy.

Delivering substantial growth also requires large-scale physical development and regeneration. 
SKDC wishes to take an active ‘hands-on’ role in this process to ensure key projects are 
delivered and create an increasingly effective and efficient delivery ‘pipeline’ for future projects.

This report outlines proposals for the formation of an investment partnership - ‘DeliverSK’ - to 
manage development schemes from initial concept through to delivery.

Key points of the proposal are as follows: 

 DeliverSK would be a 50:50 joint venture with an experienced private sector partner that 
has the necessary resources to fund developments and/or access to other sources of 
private sector funding. 

 The joint venture partners would procure the necessary expertise to deliver the key stages 
of the development process, including assessing opportunities, developing detailed 
business cases and, once approved, securing funding.

 The investment partnership represents a more commercial approach to procurement and 
delivery than the Council has adopted historically. The approach provides greater flexibility 
and faster decision-making, while maintaining appropriate due diligence and governance.

 DeliverSK would be run by a management board made up of equal representatives from 
SKDC and its partner organisation. Board members of DeliverSK would not be paid.

 The DeliverSK board would be able to approve development schemes. However, the usual 
Council approval and scrutiny processes would apply to any projects requiring the transfer 
of Council-owned land or further investment by the Council.   

 As a 50:50 partnership, both parties must agree in order for projects to go ahead. The 
Council representatives must agree to something before it can be enacted, or a previous 
decision changed. This structure helps promote compromise and flexibility on both sides.

 Over time the joint venture will aim to become more efficient at delivering each successive 
project in the ‘pipeline’.

 Similar investment partnerships are working effectively in other local authorities, and SKDC 
has learnt from their experiences and their approaches.

 The creation of DeliverSK requires initial investment by the Council of up to £600,000 (up to 
£100,000 set-up costs, plus up to £500,000 working capital). 

 A central role of DeliverSK will be the management of risk, particularly financial risk. SKDC’s 
financial risk is initially limited to the set-up costs - which would be drawn down as the 
process of partner selection and company formation progresses - and then working capital, 
which will be accessed only once the company has been set up. Individual projects will be 
isolated from each other by the use of separate companies (special purpose vehicles). 

 As well as limiting financial risk, the investment partnership provides an opportunity for 
SKDC to share in any profit from each project (proportionate to its contribution), which could 
be retained to fund work on future developments or returned to the Council.

 Subject to consideration of the recommendations in this report, DeliverSK will be created. 
However, no working capital or assets would be transferred until a joint venture partner is in 
place.

15



Page 3

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends that:

1. Cabinet support and approve the establishment of DeliverSK as described within this report, 
DSK001. 

2. Cabinet delegate to the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications, in consultation 
with the Strategic Director for Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to 
select and confirm the private sector partner for DeliverSK, as discussed in this report.

3. Cabinet delegate to the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications, in consultation 
with the Strategic Director for Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to 
set up DeliverSK as detailed in this report, entering into any necessary legal agreements 
needed to facilitate this.

4. Cabinet recommend to Council, the approval of a budget of up to £100k for initial set-up 
costs and up to £500k as initial working capital for DeliverSK, and to delegate to the Cabinet 
Member for Growth and Communications, in consultation with the Strategic Director for 
Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to invest up to £500k (i.e. the 
working capital) in DeliverSK, once the company has been set up.

5. Cabinet approve the appointment of the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive as 
the Council’s nominated Board Members for DeliverSK, and the Deputy Leader of the 
Council as an observer on the Board and nominated substitute for the Leader and Chief 
Executive.

6. Cabinet request the Governance and Audit Committee consider any changes necessary to 
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy to allow the initial and future investments in 
DeliverSK activities and projects. 

16



Page 4

1. BACKGROUND AND KEY DRIVERS

1.1. South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is committed to helping grow the local 
economy for the benefit of all residents in the district, both by supporting private 
sector activity and, where necessary, intervening more directly. 

1.2. South Kesteven's economy is currently worth around £2.7 billion per year. Through a 
number of economic initiatives, regeneration and development schemes the Council 
is seeking to add a further £1.2 billion to this by 2040.

1.3. In October 2017 The Leader of the Council announced a £40 million investment in a 
series of strategic projects across the district, to be delivered or underway by 2020. It 
is estimated that this investment will help grow the economy by some £400 million. 

1.4. At the same time, SKDC announced the creation of InvestSK to support local 
businesses and focus on the economic development of the district, inward investment, 
regional marketing, skills and workforce. It is also growing the economy and 
enhancing the district through the promotion of art, culture and the visitor economy.

1.5. In early 2017 SKDC established Gravitas Housing Limited (Gravitas), a wholly-owned 
company that specialises in using pockets of Council-owned land to deliver small-
scale housing developments that are suitable for local builders and ‘self-builders’.

1.6. SKDC plays a pivotal role in both supporting and delivering growth and regeneration 
in the district and recognises that its actions can help provide the confidence and 
stimulus that the private sector needs to invest in or alongside an area or 
development. 

1.7. However, like many Councils, SKDC does not currently have a strong track record of 
delivering large development or regeneration projects, with some projects spending 
years in the planning phase or falling at the final hurdle after considerable time and 
expense. As a result, the proposed council-owned land remains undeveloped. 

1.8. This can be due to a lack of political will, Councils’ lengthy decision-making 
processes, risk aversion or lack of commercial expertise – or a combination of factors. 
As a result, larger-scale developments tend to be the preserve of the private sector 
which, in most cases, is limited simply to housing.

1.9. In recent years there has been a shift in perception among many local authorities and 
the public sector generally away from the traditional view of their role as ‘regulator’, 
towards that of an enabler or deliverer. Many local authorities are now taking more 
innovative approaches to delivering growth, often in partnership with the private 
sector. 

1.10. South Kesteven needs more housing, particularly social and affordable homes. SKDC 
can play an active part in delivering housing developments. However, in addition, 
SKDC also wants to create more office and employment space, provide new leisure 
facilities and refurbish existing ones, deliver mixed-use regeneration schemes, secure 
institutional investment and so on.

1.11. The proposed investment partnership, DeliverSK, represents an exciting opportunity 
for SKDC to work with an experienced private sector partner on a more agile, 
commercial basis while retaining Council approval and scrutiny for decisions involving 
Council-owned land or investments by SKDC.

17



Page 5

2. DELIVERSK ACTIVITY

2.1. DeliverSK would be responsible for taking projects from initial concept development 
and commercial viability testing to completion, as described in section 6.

2.2. DeliverSK would focus on delivering a range of potential project, including (but not 
limited to):

 Medium and large scale housing developments (including social and affordable 
housing)

 Office and employment space development and refurbishment
 Leisure facility development and refurbishment
 Mixed-use regeneration schemes
 Securing institutional investment and identifying grant opportunities.

2.3. A detailed business case will be developed for each project for approval by the 
DeliverSK board. All projects would require the approval of both parties. 

2.4. Further approvals would be sought from SKDC for any projects involving the transfer 
of Council-owned assets (i.e. land) or requiring further investment by the Council. 
Such decisions would be subject to scrutiny in the usual way.

2.5. Once operational, DeliverSK would manage multiple projects at different stages in 
their development simultaneously. 

3. PARTNERSHIP STRUCTURE

DeliverSK is proposed to be a 50:50 owned and controlled limited liability partnership 
(LLP). It will exist at arm’s length from the Council, acting as a separate legal entity to 
deliver the types of physical growth and regeneration activity identified above to 
support the economy of the district. DeliverSK will work alongside and support South 
Kesteven District Council and InvestSK. 

A Limited Liability Partnership is an arrangement between two or more partners which 
combine to carry on business in partnership with each other, but gives them the 
benefit of limiting their liability. In addition, the Council would have certain tax 
advantages with this type of vehicle in that Corporation Tax would not apply. 
 
The Limited Liability Partnership has to be registered with the Registrar of 
Companies.

3.1. The proposed ownership structure of DeliverSK is shown below.  

18



Page 6

3.2. DeliverSK will be owned equally by the Council and a private partner. The delivery of 
projects would take place in separate companies - special purpose vehicles 
companies (SPVs) - that are created for each project. This approach, which is 
common practice, creates clarity for project decision-making and isolates any risks in 
one project from being able to impact others, or DeliverSK itself.  

3.3. In most cases, the SPVs would be wholly-owned by DeliverSK. However, the 
structure allows the flexibility for DeliverSK to share ownership of an SPV with another 
organisation should it be beneficial. 

3.4. For example, Gravitas could acquire a percentage shareholding in an individual SPV 
that might deal with housing or, if project delivery is dependent on third-party land, 
that landowner could acquire a percentage shareholding of the relevant SPV. Such 
decisions would be made on a case-by-case basis.

3.5. The proposed structure is a proven model that is being used elsewhere by a number 
of other local authorities. Structured appropriately, the approach is compliant with 
state aid and procurement requirements, and all Councils have the necessary powers 
to enter into such arrangements and make subsequent investments and asset 
disposals.

4. PARTNER INPUTS

4.1. In any partnership, the parties bring a range of different, often complementary, skills 
and inputs. Some of these, such as commercial finance or property, are tangible. 
Other less tangible, but no less important, inputs include local knowledge, experience 
and technical know-how.  

4.2. SKDC’s inputs would include:

 Council political leadership and local knowledge, critical for informing the projects 
and ensuring that the outputs of DeliverSK align to the district’s ambitions

 Initially, the Council will need to commit set-up costs and, once a partner has been 
appointed, working capital to establish the operations of the company and begin 
developing the project pipeline. This will form part of SKDC’s investment in 
DeliverSK, and this initial investment will be returned from successful schemes, to 
be used on other projects

 Development finance for scheme development and delivery can also be invested 
into DeliverSK as projects are proposed, and would be returned following scheme 
completion, along with a proportion of any profits

 Property assets, and options agreements on such assets, will be an important 
contribution, and would take place through approved project plans and subject to 
the Council’s governance in the usual way

 A commitment that the Council will use its land assets and covenant strength as 
leverage to help drive the delivery of growth and regeneration schemes, for 
example to support new leisure facilities.

4.3. It is important to stress that SKDC’s statutory planning authority powers will not be 
compromised. DeliverSK will operate on an arm’s length basis and run as an external 
company. As such, it will interact with SKDC in its role as Local Planning Authority just 
like any other third-party developer. DeliverSK will engage in pre-application 
discussions with the Development Management Service, and develop and submit 
planning applications (subject to public consultation in the usual way).

19



Page 7

4.4. The commercial partner(s) that will share ownership and risk with the Council in 
DeliverSK will have:

 Experience of working with the public sector, sharing SKDC’s values and 
commitment to growing the region

 Diverse access to capital markets and finance, creating necessary flexibility for 
different funding for different project types

 Commercial skills and experience across a range of corporate and property 
transactions and developments

 A commitment to a long-term partnership on a fair and equal basis, working 
constructively with SKDC representatives on project development

 Supporting community priorities and projects.

4.5. The partner selection is critical to the success of DeliverSK. A number of companies 
have approached SKDC expressing a desire to work with the Council and these 
companies would be considered as part of the selection process. At the end of the 
consideration period, a number of prospective partners would be invited to present to 
the relevant Cabinet Members, and the appropriate Member decision will then be 
made.
     

4.6. Returns from successful project will be used to pay off project costs first, then any 
investments from both partners. Finally, any profits would be split according to the 
proportion of investment into a project each partner made. This is discussed in more 
detail later in this report, in section 9.

5. MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

5.1. The proposed DeliverSK management structure is shown below.  

5.2. Strategically, DeliverSK would be led by a board with equal representation from both 
partners. This is proposed to be two representatives from each. Decision making 
would always be by consensus, and the Council representatives must agree to 
something before it can be enacted, or a previous decision changed. This structure 
helps promote compromise and flexibility on both sides to help projects move forward. 

5.3. Each partner would get one collective vote. If South Kesteven District Council had, for 
some reason, only one representative at a board meeting and the private partner had 
two, control would still be equal.  

5.4. The DeliverSK Board would be responsible for setting strategy and direction, agreeing 
projects and approving annual budgets. It would be responsible for DeliverSK’s 
performance. The Board Members would not be remunerated by DeliverSK.

20



Page 8

5.5. Operational delivery would be the responsibility of an executive team, led by a full-
time Managing Director who reports to the board. The core team is designed to be 
small, as is common practice, drawing on external consultants and experts where 
needed on a ‘just in time’ basis to manage costs efficiently. 

5.6. As a separate company, the majority of DeliverSK’s day-to-day activity would be able 
to take place independently from - or without recourse to - the parent organisations, 
except in two key areas:

 DeliverSK will provide draft and finalised annual accounts to the Council’s finance 
team as early as possible so that the Council can prepare its own accounts

 Where approval is required from either party for investment in a scheme and, in 
the case of SKDC, the transfer of any land, or other assets. Where this is the 
case, a detailed report outlining the project, the requirements and other relevant 
information would be prepared and submitted to both parties in order for them to 
go through their respective approvals processes. 

5.7. Responsibility for these key decisions would require the approval of the Council in its 
capacity as 50% member (owner) of DeliverSK. The decision making process will be 
enshrined in the legal documentation for DeliverSK.

5.8. DeliverSK will interact with a range of external bodies in the course of its normal 
operations, including InvestSK, with which it will work to maximise inward investment 
potential and benefits for the local community.

Left blank intentionally. Please turn over.

21



Page 9

6. PROJECTS AND FUNDING PROCESSES

All projects would go through a phased development process, with approval gateways 
at DeliverSK’s board at appropriate points, as described below: 

6.1. In stage one an outline of an idea is developed is tested and 
developed into a worked-up concept. This will include a clear 
description of objectives, constraints, timelines, key ‘unknowns’ 
etc, as well as estimated costs to take it to a business case stage 
and to implementation. Options for how the ultimate scheme 
would be financed would be considered. DeliverSK Board 
approval would be required to move to the next stage.  

6.2. The underlying commercial viability and practicality of a concept 
are then explored in stage two. This is to quickly but effectively 
test if the scheme is likely to be deliverable and work in practice, 
and whether subsidy or other support will be required and from 
which potential sources.  

6.3. Assuming overall viability is broadly positive, a business case is 
developed at stage three. This outlines in more detail what a 
scheme would look like, the intentions, timelines, resources 
required and so on. In the case of purely commercial 
development, it will specify how DeliverSK will exit, or its options 
for exiting successfully, from the scheme as it is delivered. Where 
resources are needed from one or both partners, these will be 
identified and quantified within the business case.  

6.4. The Board will need to approve any business case before it can 
proceed. If the project proposed requires finance or other input 
from one or both partners then additionally the relevant partner 
organisation would need to approve it through their usual 
governance (stage four), for which DeliverSK will prepare a 
report to the partner(s) accordingly. The report will include full 
details of the business case and the required input from the 
partner(s). If land disposals are required by the Council, these will 
be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation; likewise any 
financial input into an identified scheme. These decisions will be subject to the same 
level of scrutiny as sale or investments into any other private company.

6.5. Assuming the project proceeds, the delivery phase then begins (stage five). As some 
growth and regeneration schemes can be large, this stage would vary in length from 
one to four or more years. Regular reporting to the Board would take place 
throughout.  

6.6. When a scheme completes (stage six), any available profits are distributed to both 
partners (after a prudent reserve) according to the level of investment each partner 
has made. For example, if the Council’s investment (including other contributions, e.g. 
land) equated to 60% overall, then the Council would receive 60% of the profit.   

7. INITIAL PROJECTS

7.1. DeliverSK is designed to be an open-ended endeavour, not limited to delivering one 
or a handful of known projects. Working cooperatively with InvestSK, the Council’s 
management team and others, DeliverSK will identify a pipeline of projects that help 
deliver physical growth and regeneration of the district over time, based on the sorts 
of schemes outlined in Section 2.  

22



Page 10

7.2. Among the first projects under consideration are a significant, strategic, mixed-use 
development scheme in the south of the district and a mixed-use scheme close to the 
centre of Grantham.  

7.3. Early on, DeliverSK will also develop a leisure provision investment plan to outline the 
programme to provide new, refurbished and enhanced leisure facilities across the 
district.  

7.4. Alongside this, DeliverSK will look at land and property assets in the area to begin 
developing a wider programme of project activity, with the potential to consider 
partnership working with some of the larger landowners and potential acquisition 
opportunities. 

7.5. Early activity will also include an assessment of where the Council’s property portfolio 
might be used to support project delivery and the achievement of the Council’s 
regeneration ambitions if utilised by DeliverSK.  

8. TIMELINES

8.1. Subject to approval, DeliverSK would be created and begin activity based on the 
following indicative timeline:

Stage Date (indicative)

Expressions of interest from prospective partners October 2018
Considerations of expressions of interest November 2018
Selection of partner December 2018
Company legals and set-up October-Dec 2018
DeliverySK active January 2019
DeliverSK puts in place professional team to advise on 
business planning and development strategy

February 2019

DeliverSK working with SKDC and other major landowners to 
review strategic assets and identify those DeliverSK will take 
forward, putting option agreements in place accordingly 

First half 2019

Company business plan and first two project concepts and 
viability

Q1 2019

First project business cases (submission of a project 
summary document for board-approved projects where 
SKDC contributes land, property or finance, to be approved 
in the usual way)

Q2 2019 onwards

Planning application preparation Second half 2019

8. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1. Do nothing: The Council could continue to serve primarily as a facilitator for growth, 
setting policy and creating a framework for the district’s regeneration, but not take an 
active, participatory role. This has a number of disadvantages, not least of which is 
that the type of growth that comes forward and in what order will be something over 
which the Council has limited influence. SKDC’s land assets will also remain unused. 
This approach is also inconsistent with the progressive, forward-thinking ethos that 
SKDC has embraced in recent times and will not unlock the district’s potential. This 
option was therefore discarded.

23



Page 11

8.2. Create a wholly-owned company: The Council has created other companies – most 
recently InvestSK – that are wholly-owned, i.e. not formed with an external partner. 
This would mean all decisions around what DeliverSK did remained, effectively, in 
Council control, whereas in the LLP model proposed in this report decision making is 
by consensus of both parties. Creating a wholly-owned company would see all of the 
risks associated with finance and development sitting with the Council, whereas in 
the proposed LLP model the Council would share the risk and have access to 
commercial skills and expertise it lacks.  

8.3. Create a traditional Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV): An LABV is a form of 
partnership or joint venture between a public body and a private sector investment 
partner, normally over the medium or long-term. The public partner generally inputs 
assets, with the private sector partner providing finance and technical expertise, 
including development management skills and also potentially the construction supply 
chain. There have been some high-profile examples created in the UK previously, but 
the LLP model proposed has some significant differences that create a better fit for 
SKDC.  

For example, SKDC would not be procuring development management skills or 
contractors; DeliverSK would engage its own consultants/contractors as it moves 
forward with individual projects. In addition, it is common that LABVs have significant 
land assets transferred to them at inception, and that this drives the pipeline. This not 
only means more upfront commitment than is needed in the model proposed for 
DeliverSK, it also means it is more complex to create and operate, and that the 
Council is likely to have less control. 

8.4. This type of vehicle tends to be lengthy, and costly, to set up and does not offer the 
Council the concentrated investment focus that it requires.  

9. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. It is important that the Council is clear about what it will need to do and what it can 
choose to invest into any enterprise like this, and the associated risks. If this report is 
approved, the Council will commit up to £600k to the company for its set-up and initial 
project development activities. An indicative breakdown of anticipated spend is as 
follows:

Estimated set-up costs Estimated working capital
External legal advice
External financial advice
Other set-up and 
professional services costs

£40k
£20k
£40k

Pay, on costs and associated for 
first six months
Commercial consultancy
Architectural services
Technical studies
Facilities, rates etc
Legal, valuations and associated 
costs  
Back office functions
Contingency

£200k

£25k
£40k

£100k
£25k
£35k

£25k
£50k

£100k £500k

9.2. The initial investment of working capital will be recovered through future projects. The 
timeline earlier in this report shows that this should see the first project proposals 
developed for Q2 2019 onwards.

24



Page 12

9.3. As projects come forward in the future, the Council will be able to commit property 
and finance to the development of those projects. The choice, however, can be made 
at the time and the Council is not compelled to do so, which limits its risk. The 
detailed implications of any future investment would be explored on a case-by-case 
basis, going through the Council’s governance process in the usual way.  

9.4. Any profits made by DeliverSK will be shared between the partners in accordance 
with their respective investment inputs.

10. RISK AND MITIGATION 

10.1. The initial £500k of working capital is part of the Council’s investment in DeliverSK. It 
is not a grant. As projects are completed and revenues received, this – and any other 
investment from both parties in projects over time – would be repaid. 

There is, of course, a risk that this may not happen, that projects may not return as 
much as hoped, which can potentially jeopardise repayment. What is clear, however, 
is that the Council’s maximum financial exposure is the value of its current 
investments in DeliverSK. 

There are also a range of mitigations that help minimise risks that are built in to the 
approach (see below).  

Category risk Action/controls
The joint venture partner 
wishes to pursue project or 
course of action with which 
SKDC does not agree

As a 50:50 joint venture partnership, all decisions 
require the agreement of both parties before they can go 
ahead. If either partner disagrees, a project will not be 
pursued.

Furthermore, each time additional funds are required to 
be invested (above the initial investment referred to in 
this report) or council land needs to be transferred to 
DeliverSK for a project, it will be subject to the usual 
council approval and governance procedures. 

This process applies to each individual project.  

No projects come forward, 
leaving the £500k of initial 
working capital investment 
unrepayable

This is a highly unlikely risk, as projects are already 
identified within this report, and there is a clear 
approach for establishing a pipeline to build on these.

25



Page 13

Projects return less than 
needed to repay 
investments from the parties

Part of the development process is to assess the 
viability of a scheme, which includes market estimates 
for the ultimate sale price and regard for factors that 
could result in this varying. It is unlikely either partner 
would wish to proceed with a scheme that presented 
significant risk to returns in this way.
 
There may, however, be an occasional case where a 
scheme is highly attractive for non-financial reasons 
(such as a community regeneration project), and the 
Council wishes to proceed because of the wider 
economic benefits. One of the benefits of the proposed 
model is that the council could decide at that point to 
use profits from previous schemes to offset any viability 
gap present, allowing a site to be redeveloped where it 
would otherwise be unable to be. It is also possible that 
two sites could be linked to create an overall viable 
proposal where one profitable site supports delivery of 
one that is not commercially viable.  

Costs for scheme 
development – such as for 
obtaining planning consent, 
or for physical construction 
where appropriate – could 
exceed estimates

Careful estimates of costs for taking a project forward 
are put together through the development process, 
which details the assumptions around those to ensure 
they are robust and transparent. 

Costs will be monitored as projects come forward, 
including forecasting forward against the baseline plan, 
and any variation from this is addressed by the 
executive team the first instance, who will try to bring 
the expenditure back in line with the baseline. In the 
event that additional funds are needed, it would be for 
the partners to decide to fund at that point.

Schemes submitted do not 
obtain planning consent

The Council’s planning authority role is independent 
and would treat DeliverSK as any other developer. It is 
entirely possible that a planning application could be 
turned down, but it is also considered unlikely as 
DeliverSK will engage with the Local Planning Authority 
at the earliest possible opportunity, with extensive pre-
application dialogue, making the risk of refusal low.  

The partners within 
DeliverSK cannot agree how 
to develop a scheme that 
the Council’s 
representatives are happy 
with.

The Council will go through a careful process in order 
to establish the appropriate partner to enter into 
DeliverSK. That partner will be aligned with the 
Council's objectives for the vehicle.  

Decision making is by consensus and as such it is in 
both party’s interests to work together collaboratively to 
avoid any disagreement. However, in the event this 
took place, the scheme would simply not progress; the 
Council as a partner cannot be forced to do anything it 
does not wish to.  

That schemes are not taken 
forward quickly enough, or 
not at all, after the Council 
has agreed an investment, 
or sale of land

A key part of the business planning that supports each 
land sale or investment decision will be the timescales 
to which schemes will be delivered. The Council will 
also wish to consider what conditions (of 
sale/investment) to apply.

26



Page 14

11. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING etc.)

There are not considered to be any issues arising.

12. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are not considered to be any crime or disorder implications.

13. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

13.1 This report seeks in principle approval for the establishment of DeliverSK. At this 
stage, the level of financial commitment being sought is £600k. This consists of up to 
£100k set up budget to cover the costs the Council will incur in establishing the 
company, plus up to £500k investment in the company for use as working capital.

13.2 As set out earlier in the report, the £500k is an investment in the company and a loan 
note will be attached to this in order to secure the Council’s investment. To make an 
investment of this nature, an amendment will need to be made to the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy. It is within the remit of the Governance and Audit 
Committee to “monitor, review and amend as appropriate the Council’s approved 
Treasury Management Strategy paying particular attention to the inherent risks of the 
prevailing economic/financial climate”. This report, therefore, recommends that the 
committee is asked to consider any changes necessary to the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy to allow the initial and future investments in DeliverSK activities 
and projects.  

13.3 Although a loan note will be put in place, there remains a risk that the investment of 
initial working capital may not be repaid in full. Section 10 of this report highlights that 
this is highly unlikely and describes the controls in place to mitigate the risk. 

13.4 Further investment into the company by the Council will be made subject to the 
receipt of business cases from the company, and decisions on these will be made 
through the Council’s normal governance, i.e. Cabinet or Council as appropriate. 

13.5 The recommendations provide for the specific arrangements around the company set 
up and investment of working capital to be delegated to the Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications in consultation with the Strategic Director for Growth 
and Strategic Director for Resources. Further legal and financial advice will be 
required to ensure that robust legal and financial agreements are put in place that 
provide appropriate governance and protection for the Council.

13.6 Furthermore, advice will be taken to ensure that the financial implications and 
financial reporting requirements are fully understood. The £100k budget that is 
requested includes provision for such advice.

14. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

14.1. The Council has, in this report, set out how it intends to select an investment partner.

14.2. The creation of a co-investment partnership as proposed in this report does not in 
itself involve the procurement of works or services from the prospective partner.  
Therefore the Council is not under an obligation to run a fully regulated competition as 
set out in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, as it is purely seeking an investor 
who can contribute or provide access to funding (and investment skills) into 
DeliverSK.

27



Page 15

14.3. Following the Peters v Haringey case it has been established that where local 
authorities wish to participate in limited liability partnerships for the purpose of 
economic development, regeneration and/or local well-being and growth, then they 
may do so using the General Power of Competence contained in section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011, provided that this is the main objective in entering into the LLP.  
This report, and any business case will demonstrate that this is a reflection of the 
Council's aims and so the formation of an LLP is considered lawful.

14.4. Where the Council is providing funding to a third party operating in the open market 
(ie the LLP) it will need to ensure that any such funding is injected in a state aid 
compliant manner. State aid is any advantage or benefit provided by a public body or 
using state resources to any undertaking (an entity deemed to be carrying out 
economic activity). The Council is a local government body funded using State 
resources. Where the Council provides these State resources to an undertaking (such 
as the LLP), which results in this entity receiving a selective advantage, it must ensure 
that it does so in line with a recognised state aid solution or exemption. Where 
unlawful state aid is provided to an undertaking, it can be clawed back with 
interest. Where the Council is able to demonstrate that no selective advantage is 
provided to an undertaking, no state aid passes to that entity. This means that where 
a loan is provided to an entity on market terms, no unlawful state aid is being provided 
as the entity is not receiving any advantage beyond what it would get on the market. 

In order to assess whether a particular investment, or investment decision confers an 
advantage that would not otherwise be available on the open market, the Market 
Economy Investor Principle Test (“MEIP Test”) should be applied to the 
assessment. The MEIP Test involves an assessment of the support provided by the 
public body in question, i.e. Would a private investor in comparable circumstances 
have provided such sums or support to the recipient if it were operating under normal 
market economy conditions? The MEIP test is deemed to be automatically satisfied if 
the public sector investor in question is investing on similar terms as a private sector 
entity. If the investment is not entirely on the same terms, pari passu, it is still possible 
for it to be deemed to be state aid compliant, provided the terms of the investment are 
such that a hypothetical reasonable private sector investor, in comparable 
circumstances, would agree to these. To evidence this, the Council could appoint an 
independent commercial advisor review the terms of the transaction and confirm that 
this is the case. This will require a review of the terms of any loan, including its length 
and interest rate.  

14.5. The governance of any joint venture will be key to ensuring it is able to operate 
effectively and meet the best interests of the Council. The Council will interact with the 
activities of the joint venture as a landowner, a member of the LLP and through 
appointees to the LLP company board of directors. Executive decisions to be made in 
respect of the LLP should be subject to scrutiny and the business plan will determine 
which decisions will be reserved to the Council.

15. BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

28


	Agenda
	5 Action notes of the meeting held on 25 July 2018
	7 DeliverSK

